
 
1 

PRFF 
3 January 2024 
Final Meeting Notes 

 

Priest Rapids Fish Forum 
 Conference Call 

Wednesday, 3 January 2024 
10:00 a.m. – 11:00 a.m. 

 

FINAL MINUTES 

PRFF Members 
RD Nelle, Emily Orling, USFWS  Patrick Verhey, Benjamin Cox, WDFW 
Ralph Lampman, Keely Murdoch, YN  Breean Zimmerman, WDOE 
Nathan and Clayton Buck, Wanapum  Aaron Jackson, Carl Merkle, CTUIR 
Jason McLellan, Bret Nine, CTCR  N/A, BIA 
Mike Clement, Chris Mott, Grant PUD  N/A, CRITFC 
Tracy Hillman, Chair    

Meeting Attendees 
Jason McLellan, CTCR  Nathan Patterson, YN 
Mike Clement, Grant PUD  RD Nelle, USFWS 
Patrick Verhey, WDFW  Chris Mott, Grant PUD 
Ralph Lampman, YN  Emily Orling, USFWS 
Nathan Buck, Wanapum  Breean Zimmerman, WDOE 
Tygh Schuster, YN  Tracy Hillman, Chair   
  

Action Items: 

• Ralph Lampman will share the presentations or links to the presentations given during the 
Pacific Lamprey Information Exchange. 

• Ralph Lampman will update the Upper Columbia Juvenile Source Lamprey Datasheet and send it 
to Tracy Hillman for distribution to the PRFF.   

• PRFF members will provide comments on the draft 2023 Bull Trout M&E Plan Annual Report to 
Grant PUD by 4 January 2024. 



 
2 

PRFF 
3 January 2024 
Final Meeting Notes 

• Ralph Lampman will check to see if any investigators on the Columbia River will be tagging 
lamprey with HDX PIT tags in 2024. Mike Clement will use this information to determine 
whether Grant PUD need to activate their HDX PIT tag arrays. 

Decision Items: 

• None.  

I. Welcome and Introductions  

Tracy Hillman welcomed everyone to the meeting and identified all attendees.   

II. Agenda Review  

The PRFF reviewed and approved the January agenda. 

III. Approve November Meeting Notes  

The PRFF reviewed and approved the 1 November 2023 meeting minutes. 

IV. Review Action Items  

The PRFF reviewed the following action item from the November meeting:  

• Ralph Lampman will update the Upper Columbia Juvenile Source Lamprey Datasheet and send it 
to Tracy Hillman for distribution to the PRFF. Ongoing 

V. White Sturgeon  

White Sturgeon Rearing Update – Nate Patterson reported that the juvenile sturgeon on station at the 
Yakama Nation Sturgeon Hatchery are doing well. He said the fish average 7.76 fish per pound, which is 
larger than fish measured at this time last year. They have grown considerably since the last sampling 
event and have limited fin deformities. He said there are approximately 6,000 juvenile sturgeon on 
station. 

2023 White Sturgeon Annual Report – Mike Clement stated that WSP Golder is working on the draft 
report and should have it to Grant PUD in a week or two. Grant PUD will review the report and then 
send it to the PRFF for a 30-day review. Mike believes the PRFF will see the report by the end of this 
month. 

Other White Sturgeon Items – No other White Sturgeon items were discussed.  

VI. Pacific Lamprey  

2023 Annual Pacific Lamprey Report – Mike Clement indicated that Grant PUD is currently reviewing 
the draft annual Pacific Lamprey report. Mike said the report has been restructured based on comments 
received from the PRFF last year. He added that the draft report should be sent to the PRFF for a 30-day 
review by the end of the month. Ralph asked whether the report will include a table identifying the 
destination of translocated lamprey. Mike responded that the report will include information on 
destination. 

Results from the Pacific Lamprey Summit and Information Exchange – Mike Clement stated that it was 
a good conference; however, there were problems with slides advancing during the presentations. 



 
3 

PRFF 
3 January 2024 
Final Meeting Notes 

Nevertheless, there were some interesting talks, and he highlighted a talk on fine-scale analysis of sea 
lamprey migration, noting that adult sea lamprey follow the thalweg during upstream migration.  

Ralph Lampman walked the Forum through the different presentations given during the Summit and 
Information Exchange. The first day (12 December) was the Policy Committee Meeting, which focused 
on the theme, “What’s Next for Pacific Lamprey?” (see Attachment 1). Ralph said they had breakout 
sessions with three different discussion topics: (1) Key Threats, (2) Communication/Advocacy, and (3) 
Funding. He said the breakout sessions worked well even though it was a new format for the Policy 
Committee.  

The next two days included Lamprey Information Exchange presentations (see Attachment 2). The first 
day (13 December) of the Lamprey Information Exchange focused on (1) Genetics, Phylogenetic, and 
Taxonomy; (2) Restoration; and (3) Juvenile Entrainment, Dewatering, and Dredging Investigations. 
Ralph said the talks on “Patterns in Distribution and Density of Larval Lampreys in the Mainstem 
Columbia River”; “Pursuing Creative Methods to Reduce Entrainment for Lamprey”; “Do Salmon 
Screening Criteria Protect Larval Lamprey?”; and “Screening Options to Protect Larval Lamprey and an 
Open Call for Large-Scale Salvage Solutions” would be useful to the PRFF. Ralph said the second day (14 
December) of the Information Exchange focused on (1) Migration, Tagging, and Passage and (2) an Open 
Session. He said the talks on “Investigations of Seward Migration and Survival of Juvenile Sea Lamprey 
using ELAT”; “How Migrating Adult Sea Lamprey Navigate Through Complex and Risky Habitats”; “An 
Open-Source Pacific Lamprey Life-Cycle Model Tool”; “Will Warming Winter Temperature Resulting from 
Climate Change Influence Larval Metamorphosis in Pacific Lamprey?”; and “Natal Origins of Pacific 
Lamprey” would all be useful to the PRFF. Ralph said he will share the presentations or links to the 
presentations once they are available.  

Juvenile Survival Studies – Ralph Lampman reported that he is still waiting for information to complete 
the Upper Columbia Juvenile Source Lamprey Datasheet. He said there are a few data gaps that need to 
be filled with information. He hopes to have that information soon. He also noted that he was surprised 
with the low numbers of juvenile lamprey collected in screw traps. He was expecting to see larger 
numbers of juvenile lamprey collected in traps. Given the low numbers, the PRFF will have to consider 
collecting juveniles from downstream sources. Ralph then referred back to the November meeting notes 
and reminded members to focus on the four key questions. He said although we have time to work 
through these questions, we need to continue working on them. RD Nelle noted that he is going to 
discuss the questions with experts within the USFWS.  

Other Pacific Lamprey Items – Ralph Lampman stated that he will soon share with the PRFF the 2023 
Pacific Lamprey Assessment Update for the Upper Columbia region. This report will summarize the 
results and conclusions from the assessment meetings. Mike Clement asked whether any lamprey will 
be tagged with HDX PIT tags this year. Ralph indicated that he was not sure but will check. Mike said 
Grant PUD will activate their HDX detection systems if lamprey are being tagged with HDX tags this year. 

VII. Bull Trout  

2023 Annual Bull Trout Report – Mike Clement indicated that Grant PUD sent the draft 2023 Bull Trout 
M&E Plan Annual Report to the PRFF on 29 November. Comments on the draft report are due to Mike 
tomorrow (4 January 2024). Mike stated that in 2023, they observed 2 Bull Trout passing Wanapum 
Dam. No Bull Trout were observed passing Priest Rapids Dam in 2023, and no Bull Trout were observed 
in other mainstem activities such as juvenile bypass activities, Northern Pikeminnow predator control 
programs, turbine maintenance activities, fishway maintenance activities, White Sturgeon activities, fall 
Chinook Salmon activities, hatchery activities, or at their mainstem PIT-tag interrogation systems. Mike 



 
4 

PRFF 
3 January 2024 
Final Meeting Notes 

indicated that they are working on improving the quality of the photos taken of fish passing through the 
fishway counting stations.  

VIII. Adjourn  

With no additional business to discuss, Tracy Hillman adjourned the meeting at 11:00 am.   

IX. Next Meeting  

The next meeting of the PRFF will be on 7 February 2024.  

  



 
5 

PRFF 
3 January 2024 
Final Meeting Notes 

Attachment 1 
 

Pacific Lamprey Summit and Information Exchange:  
Policy Committee Meeting Agenda 

 



 
6 

PRFF 
3 January 2024 
Final Meeting Notes 

 



 
7 

PRFF 
3 January 2024 
Final Meeting Notes 

 
 

 

  



 
8 

PRFF 
3 January 2024 
Final Meeting Notes 

Attachment 2 
 

Pacific Lamprey Summit and Information Exchange:  
7th Annual Lamprey Information Exchange Agenda 

 

 

Note: Ralph Lampman identified in red font those presentations that may be relevant to the PRFF. 



 
9 

PRFF 
3 January 2024 
Final Meeting Notes 

 
 



 
10 

PRFF 
3 January 2024 
Final Meeting Notes 

 
 



 
11 

PRFF 
3 January 2024 
Final Meeting Notes 

 
 



 
12 

PRFF 
3 January 2024 
Final Meeting Notes 

 
 

 


	I. Welcome and Introductions
	II. Agenda Review
	III. Approve November Meeting Notes
	IV. Review Action Items
	V. White Sturgeon
	VI. Pacific Lamprey
	VII. Bull Trout
	VIII. Adjourn
	IX. Next Meeting

